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To my amazing daughters, Zelda and Annabel, who with each passing day fill me with joy and happiness


The Presidents on Assassination . . .

[I stayed up] waiting for important dispatches from the front . . . [As I dreamed I felt] a death-like stillness about me . . . [and heard] mournful sounds of distress [and as I entered the East Room, I saw] a sickening surprise [a coffin guarded by soldiers] . . . ‘Who is dead in the White House?’ I demanded of one of the soldiers. ‘The president. He was killed by an assassin!’

—ABRAHAM LINCOLN RECALLING HIS DREAM TO WARD HILL LAMON

Well, if assassination is to play its part in the campaign, and I must be the sacrifice, perhaps it is best. I think I am ready.

—JAMES GARFIELD

As soon as I am aware of the condition of my beloved president, I will set about clearing my good name about having hired an assassin to harm our president.

—CHESTER ARTHUR TO JAMES BLAINE

I give you my word, I do not care a rap about being shot; not a rap.

—THEODORE ROOSEVELT

Since you can’t control these things [assassination attempts], you don’t think about them.

—FRANKLIN ROOSEVELT

I was beginning to realize how little the founding fathers had been able to anticipate the preparations necessary for a man to become president so suddenly.

—HARRY TRUMAN

If anybody really wanted to shoot the president of the United, States it was not a very difficult job—all one had to do was get a high building someday with a telescopic rifle, and there was nothing anybody could do to defend against such an attempt.

—JOHN F. KENNEDY TO AN AIDE THE MORNING OF HIS ASSASSINATION
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John Wilkes Booth On April 14, 1865, the established actor and Confederate sympathizer snuck into the presidential box at Ford’s Theatre and assassinated Abraham Lincoln with a single-shot Deringer pistol.
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Charles Guiteau The mentally unstable office seeker shot President James Garfield at the Baltimore and Potomac Railroad Station in Washington, D.C., on July 2, 1881. He was hanged on June 30, 1882.
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Leon Czolgosz Portrait of the anarchist, who on September 6, 1901, shot President William McKinley in a receiving line at the Pan-American Exposition in Buffalo, New York. He was tried, convicted, and electrocuted on October 29.
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Lee Harvey Oswald A former marine who had spent time in the Soviet Union before killing President Kennedy on November 22, 1963. He was shot and killed by nightclub owner Jack Ruby two days later.





Foreword


“My office renders me so completely insignificant that all Parties can afford to treat me with a decent respect which accordingly they do, as far as I observe, or hear or suspect. They all know that I can do them neither much good nor much harm.”1

—John Adams as the first vice president

John Tyler, Millard Fillmore, Andrew Johnson, Chester Arthur, Theodore Roosevelt, Calvin Coolidge, Harry Truman, Lyndon Johnson: Eight times a vice president has become president upon the death of his predecessor—history altered by a heartbeat. This is the story of how these eight men, neither the voters’ nor their party’s choice, dealt with that power and changed history, for better or worse.

These men ascended to the presidency without the Constitution having specified an order of succession. The founders didn’t think of everything. They made compromises to get things done, such as giving each state two senators to get the smaller states to sign on to proportional representation in the House of Representatives. Succession was no different, particularly given how little thought had been given to the vice presidency itself. The fact that the country navigated these abrupt transfers of power eight times during a one-hundred-and-twenty-two-year period and amended the Constitution only after John F. Kennedy’s assassination in 1963 offers a powerful response to the originalist, or literal, interpretation of the Constitution.

In many cases, the men who came to fill the shoes of dead presidents had been spouses in a marriage of political convenience for a president to win a state or appease a particular constituency. Only five—John Adams, Thomas Jefferson, Martin Van Buren, Richard Nixon, and George H. W. Bush—completed terms as vice president and went on to win the presidency. Their election relieved them of that vice-presidential image of irrelevance. In the eight instances when the vice president succeeded to the office, a set of common challenges made the path to success much harder. Each had to earn the respect of the men loyal to his predecessor, or find a way to discard them. They had to honor the loss while at the same time getting back to governing. All had to find the balance between continuing the policies of the man who was elected (including navigating the ambiguity left behind) and responsibly fulfilling their present duties. Each had to step out of the shadow of his predecessor and earn the presidency in his own right.

Each transition is treated as its own chapter, with the exception of FDR, where the combination of high stakes and certainty of death warrant extra attention. There is no strict pattern that determined performance, although in two of our most extraordinary cases—Abraham Lincoln and Franklin Roosevelt—they made poor choices, given the wartime context. In Roosevelt’s case, he got lucky because Harry Truman proved up to the job, the best of the lot other than the great Theodore Roosevelt. Lincoln’s vice president, Andrew Johnson, proved the biggest catastrophe of the eight.

We can’t understand what a miracle Truman is without understanding both the lackadaisical effort that went into FDR’s choice of a 1944 running mate and the extraordinary performance of Harry Truman as president. Truman had big shoes to fill, but so did the other seven. They had their own biases. Most had been excluded from their predecessors’ inner circles. Their ambition to make their own mark led them down very different paths. Some rose to the occasion, others failed. The chapters show mixed performances—some started and ended wars, while others accelerated and slowed social progress. Each story also raises questions about how history might have been different had the president survived.

The stories of eight men who became president by accident are remarkable in what they reveal. They are all part of a history of presidential succession which has been frivolous and has left the country exposed to Constitutional crisis or vulnerable to luck and chance. The framers paid little attention to succession and despite eight deaths in office, the matter of succession has been trivialized by voters, candidates, and lawmakers.
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William Henry Harrison became the first Whig president, but died after just thirty days in office. The Constitution was vague on whether the vice president assumes the office, or simply fulfills its duties as “acting president.”
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John Tyler became the nation’s first accidental president. He was reviled by the Whigs and kicked out of his own party. He annexed Texas and precipitated war with Mexico.





CHAPTER ONE



First to Die

Chief Tecumseh1 had every right to be vengeful. At the age of six, the future Shawnee chief watched a Virginia militia kill his father during the 1774 Battle of Point Pleasant. Just a few years later he bore witness to the violent consequences his tribe would suffer for siding with Britain in the American Revolution. And at twenty-one years old, he joined an unsuccessful resistance movement against settler expansion in Tennessee, only to watch his older brother, Cheeseekau, die in combat. Despite repeated setbacks, he continued fighting, returning to the Midwest in 1794 to fight with the Shawnee in the Battle of Fallen Timbers.2 But persistence once again failed him as Shawnee battle tactics fell short against an overpowering American military.

As the story goes, it was there at Fallen Timbers that Chief Tecumseh first encountered William Henry Harrison, a young, ambitious aide-de-camp to General “Mad” Anthony Wayne and future president of the United States. At the battle’s conclusion, General Wayne leveraged his victory, along with a combination of coercion and bribery, to negotiate the Treaty of Greenville, which ceded more than three million acres of Shawnee land to the American government. Angered by the one-sided nature of the treaty, Chief Tecumseh and his surviving brother, Tenskwatawa—nicknamed “The Prophet”—founded a village called Prophetstown, which they intended to be the epicenter of a larger Native American confederacy that would stem the tide of white settlers who threatened their land. But those plans never materialized, and in 1811, Tecumseh and Harrison found themselves once again facing off, this time in the Battle of Tippecanoe. In that decisive battle, Harrison, who was now an established politician and seasoned major general in the Army, dealt Tecumseh and the Shawnee a devastating blow.3 Over the course of a generation, the two men grew in stature within their communities, but it was Harrison who found success while Tecumseh came to know only the death and destruction of his people.

As legend has it, a lifetime of animosity led Chief Tecumseh to place a curse on the American presidency. The terms of this curseI stipulated that Tecumseh, “who caused the Sun to darken and Red Men to give up firewater . . . [can] . . . tell you [that William Henry] Harrison will die. And after him, every Great Chief chosen every 20 years thereafter will die. And when each dies, let everyone remember the death of [the Shawnee] people.”4

While curses and vengeful Indian chiefs make for a colorful tale, the story of the accidental presidents began with the presidential campaign of 1840, which was an unprecedented political spectacle. The election was a rancorous charade that offered just enough games and gimmicks to attract what at the time was a record 80.2 percent of eligible voters.5 The newly established Whig Party ran the aging retired general William Henry Harrison—nicknamed “Old Tippecanoe”—against incumbent Democrat Martin Van Buren—a Jacksonian Democrat who had the misfortune of taking office five weeks before the country’s worst economic crisis in its history. Van Buren’s presidency was doomed from the start, and following a barrage of Whig attacks that painted him as an out-of-touch elitist, his prospects for reelection were bleak.

For purposes of the campaign, William Henry Harrison was a simple man born in a log cabin who rose through the ranks of the military to become an American hero. His story was inspiring and offered a remarkable tale of beating the odds at a time when so many people were losing hope. While the hero part was true, the rest of the narrative was a myth; a fabrication meant to present the retired general as Everyman. His wealth and privilege were obfuscated through campaign intrigue so prodigious that presidential elections would never be the same. Whether his story was fact or fiction mattered little as the voters got drunk on the idea of Old Tippecanoe, quite literally, as the campaign hosted hard cider events in log cabins throughout the twenty-six United States. Liquor distributors had a field day and wanted the campaign to last forever. Some, like E. C. Booz, the innovative whiskey distiller from Philadelphia, resorted to shameless tactics such as filling whiskey bottles designed as log cabins and calling it “Old Cabin Whiskey,” which some have even credited as the origin of the word “booze.”6 And where alcohol was not sufficient, the Whigs resorted to other measures. Party supporters built gigantic papier-mâché balls to roll from town to town in a public display of support. Music, songs, and dances were choreographed and written. The Whigs produced gimmick after gimmick, avoiding taking a position on any major issue.

In the backdrop of all of this was John Tyler, Harrison’s running mate, and the second half of the catchy campaign slogan “Tippecanoe and Tyler Too.” He was supposed to be a footnote in history, thrown onto the Whig ticket in 1840 to help carry Virginia, which they lost anyway, and offer a nod to states’ rights, which didn’t really happen either. He was a pragmatic choice, a national figure with a “dignified southern charm.”7 He had run as a Whig in Maryland and Virginia four years earlier, and he could help bring along southern anti-abolitionists and states’ rights zealots.8 Some argued that he was antinationalist and most (perhaps including Tyler himself) believed that he was a Jacksonian Democrat at heart. But these factors aside, there weren’t many viable candidates who would actually accept the job,9 and time was running out. Despite some rumblings and objections, even the detractors became complacent with the idea of parking Tyler in the vice presidency. What harm could he cause in such an irrelevant position?

The two won a commanding victory on top of an already firm Whig control of the government. The party had 85 percent of the gubernatorial seats, nearly 57 percent10 of the House of Representatives, 51 percent of the Senate, the majority of state legislatures,11 and now for the first time, the presidency. Victory gave the Whigs control over eighteen thousand federal appointments, which meant they could kick the Democrats out of the federal government and disperse jobs to party loyalists.12

On March 4, 1841, the new president rode into Washington on a train, the first president to do so.13 For the parade down Pennsylvania Avenue, he climbed atop a white horse—his favorite, “Whitey”—waved to an estimated fifty thousand14 adoring fans, and then delivered his inaugural address from a podium on the eastern portico of the Capitol.15 At 8,445 words, the speech lasted an hour and forty-five minutes, the longest in history. It mirrored the campaign in its lack of direction and substance. Some antsy spectators left their seats and ambled around out of sheer boredom, while others stamped their feet to manage the frigid weather.16

At sixty-eight, Harrison was the oldest man to win the presidency—later eclipsed by Ronald Reagan and then Donald Trump. Eager to prove that he was able-bodied, the new president braved the brisk weather without a hat, gloves, or overcoat, which appeared to many observers to lead to his catching a mild cold. The cold weakened him, but he was out and about shortly thereafter: as president, he enjoyed strolling around unescorted, proving that he really was a man of the people. Three weeks after the inauguration, however, shortly after returning to the White House after one of his jaunts, he fell ill from what his doctors diagnosed as “pneumonia of the lower lobe of the right lung, complicated by congestion of the liver.”17 By April 4, the president was dead, having served thirty days in office. Despite the original diagnosis sustaining for 173 years, the New York Times reported that the true cause of death was more likely enteric fever, which would have been caused by the field of human excrement that, in the absence of a proper sewer system, flowed into a marsh near the White House.18 II Lying slightly reclined and surrounded by his niece and nephew, three cabinet secretaries, and Reverend William Hawley,19 Harrison reserved his last words for a cryptic plea to his successor: “Sir—I wish you to understand the true principles of government. I wish them carried out—I ask nothing more.”20

His successor, however, was nowhere near the president’s bedside to hear these words. Harrison was delirious in his final hour and while his words were directed at Tyler, they were in fact spoken to his personal physician, Dr. N. W. Worthington.21 John Tyler, resigned to the irrelevance of the vice presidency, had already dashed out of Washington the same day as the inauguration to his home in Virginia. Other than an occasional trip to the Senate, he intended to spend his four-year term outside the nation’s capital.

There was no precedent for this situation, nor had there been any planning. With the president dead and the vice president several hundred miles away, Secretary of State Daniel Webster mustered the cabinet and insisted that they draft a memorandum for the vice president.22 Webster dispatched his twenty-three-year-old son, Fletcher, chief clerk for the State Department, and Robert Beale, the doorkeeper of the U.S. Senate, to deliver the tragic news. The two men took the first possible train to Richmond and chartered a boat to make the final leg of the journey.23 They arrived at dawn, exhausted and standing before Tyler’s home.24 Webster knocked on the door, but perhaps in his gentlemanly way did not knock loud enough to wake the vice president. Beale, who was the less polite of the two boys, gave the door a good pound until Tyler awakened, came downstairs in shock that someone in this respectful town would disturb his slumber,25 and answered the door in his pajamas and nightcap. As the story goes,26 the messengers telegraphed the tragic news with their facial expressions, but remained calm and collected, conveying that they had “been instructed by the Secretary of State to deliver these dispatches to you without delay.” Upon reading the letter, Tyler cried, “My God, the President is dead,”27 and urged the two young messengers to come into his home.

Tyler was disheartened, but remained composed. He was a gentleman with a reserved manner that many mistook for weakness. But he rarely overlooked even the subtlest detail and when reading the letter he noticed a few omissions. The message, which was signed by the entire cabinet, mentioned nothing about Tyler now being president and stopped short of urging his return to Washington. Furthermore, the signatories addressed the letter to “John Tyler, Vice-president of the United States.”28 These were not careless drafting mistakes, nor were they inadvertent omissions. Harrison fell ill in the early weeks of his presidency, but only in the previous week did it appear as though he might die. Preparing for the worst-case scenario, members of the cabinet began debating and deliberating on the implications.

While no official record of these meetings exists, Nathan Sargent, a prominent journalist covering the Whig beat, wrote that the cabinet deliberated on how to address Tyler and concluded that “Mr. Tyler must, while performing the functions of President, bear the title of Vice-President, acting President.”29 Assuming Sargent’s account is correct—and it likely is given that the full cabinet signed on to the letter—there were probably two reasons for this: First, these were all Harrison men with a low opinion of both the vice presidency and its current occupant. Second, the Whigs believed in a weak executive and Harrison was a known quantity. He had pledged a single term and promised to be deferential to the legislature. In cabinet meetings, he subscribed to a process of one man, one vote, whether you were the president or the postmaster general. Tyler was more of a wild card and none of Harrison’s men knew how his views and style would manifest themselves. More important, none of them trusted him and, in fact, they probably didn’t like him much. They questioned his commitment to the Whig agenda—national bank, internal improvements, weakening of the executive branch, raising the tariff. They knew he kept the outside counsel of a trusted group of Virginia states’ rightist confidants.

Tyler woke his wife and children, shared the somber news, ate his breakfast, and called a family meeting. His wife, Letitia, was gravely ill and partially paralyzed, so the future of their seven30 children weighed heavily on her. The family deliberated and agreed that Tyler should rush to Washington after which two of his children, Robert and Priscilla, would join him the following week. Pending her health, Letitia would follow sometime thereafter.31

With the family decisions temporarily settled, Tyler focused on navigating the political complexities of assuming the presidency. In search of wise counsel, he paid a visit to another close friend and Williamsburg neighbor, Nathaniel Beverley Tucker, a law professor at the College of William and Mary.32 Tyler admired and trusted Tucker both for his legal mind and states’ rights advocacy.33 Tucker was a fascinating character, part legal scholar and part political novelist, whose written works attracted praise from the likes of Edgar Allan Poe.34 Tucker suggested he honor Harrison’s single-term pledge and announce immediately that he would not seek election in his own right in 1844.35 But Tyler was not ready to declare himself a one-term president—although he gave it serious thought—and instead focused on getting to Washington as quickly as possible, moving into the White House, and meeting the diplomatic corps to demonstrate continuity of government.

    The cabinet’s letter created a sense of urgency, not because of what it contained, but because of what it didn’t. Each passing hour left Tyler exposed to a scenario where the wheels of succession planning would spin without him. Recognizing this, he said farewell to his family and set off for Washington early that Monday.36 He and his entourage made the journey, an exhausting and emotionally draining 230-mile trip—through a circuitous route combining trains, boats, and carriages—in twenty-one hours.37 The speed of the journey was not lost on Tyler, who finally checked into Brown’s Indian Queen Hotel38—a magnificent five-story white structure located at Sixth and Pennsylvania Avenue—at 4:00 a.m. on April 6.39

Tyler considered himself president from the moment he arrived in Washington40 and saw no need to formalize this with a separate oath.41 He was meant to be a peripheral part of the administration and barely knew General Harrison. According to one contemporary biographer, “what little he did know he did not much like.”42 He had been disgusted by what he perceived to be the deception of the American people through a campaign built on myths and lies. His predecessor served too short a time to leave behind any vision or policies. Left to his own devices, Tyler would simply “follow the light of my own judgment and the prompting of my own feelings.”43 But before charting his own path, he would need to make sure his ascension to the presidency was unquestioned.

John Tyler and the men in his inherited cabinet read the same article in the Constitution and arrived at completely different conclusions about its meaning. The Article II succession clause of the Constitution states: “In Case of the Removal of the President from Office, or of his Death, Resignation, or Inability to discharge the Powers and Duties of the said Office, the Same shall devolve on the Vice President.”44 Nobody was confused about Tyler assuming the duties of the president, but divergent interpretations of “the Same” and “devolve” revealed a gaping hole of ambiguity that bred further confusion around an unprecedented situation. Looser readings at the time concluded that “the Same” refers to both the office and the duties, while the stricter interpretations applied this only to the latter.

None of the original drafters of the Constitution were alive (James Madison was the last to die in 1836) so no one had firsthand accounts of what was intended by the succession clause.45 The drafters hadn’t left much of a paper trail on the matter, mainly because they had little enthusiasm for the idea of a vice president, and in fact, only a few favored the inclusion of a vice president.46 What limited debate the drafters had over succession was inconclusive. Charles Pinckney of South Carolina and Alexander Hamilton of New York suggested that should the president die, resign, or be deemed incapable of performing his duties, the president of the Senate should assume the duties of president, pending a new election.47 There was some discussion about what was meant by an “inability” to perform presidential functions—most notably by John Dickinson of Delaware, who asked, “What is the extent of the term disability[?]”48 In September 1787, Hugh Williamson, who represented North Carolina at the Constitutional Convention, acknowledged the lack of attention the drafters gave to the nation’s second-highest office, suggesting “such an officer as vice-president was not wanted. He was introduced merely for the sake of a valuable mode of election, which required two to be chosen at the same time.”49

These fragments of debate offered no blueprint for how to handle Harrison’s death. Webster and the cabinet sought the counsel of outside experts. They called on William Thomas Carroll, chief clerk of the Supreme Court, to summon Chief Justice Roger B. Taney, who was then in Baltimore. Taney, the temperamental jurist who sixteen years later would write the majority pro-slavery opinion in Dred Scott v. Sanford, refused to offer his take on the Tyler question, citing his belief that “the communication from [executive branch] to the [judicial branch] ought to be direct and from the proper origin . . . [and he] did not wish to appear to be intruding in the affairs of the executive branch without a formal request from the cabinet or from John Tyler.”50

Taney believed his conclusion was the right legal judgment, but he also understood that this was a political lose-lose. As a Jacksonian Democrat, he detested Henry Clay, who at the time served as “Senate leader,” although this was not yet a formal elective position.III He understood that if the “Acting President” interpretation prevailed, the government would be handed over to Clay, who as the Whig party leader would have been the actual source of power. Balancing the equation, Taney also had no love lost for John Tyler, who had voted against his confirmation as secretary of the treasury.51

It appears that John Tyler knew exactly what he was walking into. Ready to stand firm and meet the controversy, he gathered the Harrison cabinet to state, not debate, that he was president of the United States. Six men joined Tyler at the table: Secretary of State Daniel Webster, Secretary of the Treasury Thomas Ewing, Secretary of War John Bell, Attorney General John J. Crittenden, Postmaster General Francis Granger, and Secretary of the Navy George E. Badger. While the cabinet may have intended to bully or trap Tyler into serving as an “Acting President,” the Virginia politician had two things going for him: information and time. A tip from his friend James Lyons about the seriousness of Harrison’s illness and the long journey had given him breathing room to plot his move.

That first cabinet meeting lasted from early morning to late afternoon and focused almost entirely on the details of Harrison’s funeral,52 which was scheduled for the following day and was also without precedent. The discussion over funeral details53 did not overshadow the elephant in the room, which was the question of Tyler’s status. As the talk moved from funeral arrangements to other matters, Webster noted that Harrison made all policy decisions by majority vote in the cabinet. His subtle injunction was the bait that Tyler had been waiting for. He took it and without hesitation explained that he would do things differently.54 “I am the President, and I shall be held responsible for my administration,” he told them. “I shall be pleased to avail myself of your counsel and advice. But I can never consent to being dictated to as to what I shall or shall not do . . . when you think otherwise, your resignations will be accepted.”55

Harrison’s men accepted their new president, reluctantly. Webster suggested that Tyler formalize his ascension to the presidency by taking the oath of office, which Tyler agreed to do. William Cranch, the chief judge of the Federal Circuit Court, issued the oath of office and subsequently issued a sworn statement saying that Tyler had appeared before him and “although he deems himself qualified to perform the duties and exercise the powers and office of the President . . . without other oath than that which he has taken as Vice-President, yet as doubts may arise, and for greater caution, [he] took and subscribed the . . . oath before me.”56

The cabinet was the least of Tyler’s worries. His real concern was the Whig Party, which he viewed as a scrappily constructed hodgepodge of politicians who agreed on almost nothing except for their hatred of Andrew Jackson. As the president observed, the cabinet left him “surrounded by Clay-men, Webster-men, anti-Masons, original Harrisonians, old Whigs, and new Whigs, each jealous of the others, and all struggling for the offices.” While Tyler was prepared to dismiss his entire cabinet if they didn’t fall into line, he also recognized that replacing the cabinet would take time and cause more problems.57 Furthermore, retaining the cabinet was necessary to keep the Whig Party intact,58 at least for the time being. There was a continuity of government argument.

The president made his decision regarding the cabinet and was prepared to live with it. He would later regret keeping all of Harrison’s men, but he needed early stability and time to fend off two looming challenges: First, William Henry Harrison, in his only act as president, had called for a special session of Congress to be convened on May 31, 1841, to address the immediate financial challenges facing the country. While there was nothing controversial about that decision, Tyler knew that this session would open a Pandora’s box of Whig factions. The second challenge was Henry Clay, the fiery Whig party leader who aspired to the presidency and believed he was the real power broker in the Whig-dominated government. Harrison had proven to be more independent-minded than Clay expected59—although short of a Manchurian candidate, it is unclear that any president could have met Clay’s expectations of allowing him to essentially run the government—but he anticipated greater success at manipulating Tyler. The “Sage of Ashland” was in for a rude awakening.

On April 9, John Tyler delivered a pithy inaugural address. After briefly acknowledging the tragedy of his predecessor’s passing, he called for an increase in the size of the Navy, avoidance of public debt during peacetime, stabilization of the currency, and greater scrutiny over abuse of public offices. And in case the audience didn’t hear him, he made the last point several times over.60 Tyler importantly sought to clarify the right of succession in the Constitution. He noted, “For the first time in our history the person elected to the Vice-Presidency of the United States, by the happening of the contingency provided for in the Constitution, has had devolved upon him the Presidential office.” Unlike his predecessor, he made no mention of serving one term in office. He referred to himself as “president” and suggested that “in succeeding, under circumstances so sudden and unexpected” there may be some who engage in “assaults” on his administration.61 The assaults would come but not until the special session.

When the special session convened on May 31, Tyler spoke to a joint session of Congress. Well aware that the skepticism about his inheritance of the presidency continued, he sought to put the issue to rest. “By the provisions of the fundamental law the powers and duties of the high station to which [Harrison] was elected have devolved upon me,” he told them; and in the “dispositions of the representatives of the States and of the people will be found, to a great extent, a solution of the problem to which our institutions are for the first time subjected.”62

Tyler would have been naive to assume that his words alone would muffle the critics. That same day, one of his allies in Congress, Virginia congressman Henry A. Wise, proposed a standard resolution, within which he formalized Tyler’s status as the president of the United States.63 A heated exchange followed,64 led by Congressman John Quincy Adams, a former president. Adams would write in his diary: “[Tyler’s assumption of the Office of the President] is a construction in direct violation both of the grammar and context of the Constitution, which confers upon the Vice-President, on the decease of the President, not the office, but the powers and duties of the said office.”65 John McKeon, a congressman from New York, moved to strike “president” and replace it with “vice-President, now exercising the office of the President.” He went on to suggest that “a grave constitutional question” had been raised, and it should be put “at rest for all future time.”66 Despite the strong opposition of Adams and McKeon, the Wise resolution passed in the House without any alteration in the wording.67 The next day, the two senators from Ohio, William Allen and Benjamin Tappan, came out against Tyler’s assumption of the presidency. John C. Calhoun, the former vice president and senator from South Carolina, came to Tyler’s aid—not surprising since they were both staunchly pro-slavery—and inquired instead about the vacant vice presidency. The debate dragged on for a bit longer until the Senate followed the House in adopting a resolution,68 voting overwhelmingly, 38 to 8, to recognize John Tyler as the president of the United States.69

Passage of the Wise Resolution may have formalized Tyler’s presidency, but it did little to stop his critics from mocking him behind his back. He was called everything from “His Accidency” to “usurper.” Some, like John Quincy Adams, continued their grumbling, suggesting that if Tyler really was a strict constructionist, as he claimed to be, he would call into question “whether the Vice-President has the right to occupy the President’s house, or claim his salary, without an Act of Congress.”70 Tyler remained defiant. Throughout his career, he returned any letter unopened if it addressed him other than as “President of the United States.”

Tyler never wavered from his decision. It set a precedent that would pave the way for seven future presidents: Millard Fillmore, Andrew Johnson, Chester Arthur, Theodore Roosevelt, Calvin Coolidge, Harry Truman, and Lyndon Johnson. If Tyler’s precedent established a right of succession for future vice presidents, his presidency demonstrated how unexpected ascension to power may change the course of history. While it is true that Tyler fortified the presidency by winning the constitutional arguments over succession,71 his subsequent policy decisions would lead the country down a very different path and illustrate that abrupt transitions can pivot the country’s trajectory.

President Without a Party

Tyler was doomed from the early weeks of his presidency, not because of the controversy over his ascension, but because of Henry Clay’s tenacity to get what he wanted. Perhaps the largest personality of his day, Clay was both charming and obnoxious and possessed a unique oratory gift, which often served him well. He was a performer, a man of presence with piercing eyes, high cheekbones, messy long hair that dangled in front of his ears, a dimple in the middle of his chin, and a small back arch in his posture that almost made him look as if he had been genetically designed as a debater. His political and social crafts were legendary and he could navigate both a political labyrinth and royal court with ease and charm. One biographer describes how “no matter how badly he behaved he constantly dazzled people who came in contact with him, even when they differed strongly with him on policy and principles.”72 He liked a good political fight and surrounded himself with drama that he both created and absorbed.

In April 1826, Clay formally challenged Senator John Randolph to a duel, after the latter accused him of “crucifying the Constitution and cheating at cards.”73 He appreciated the power of narrative and like William Henry Harrison he concocted an exaggerated story of his rise from obscurity, even coining the popular term “self-made man,”74 which he applied to himself. His craft and presence inspired an entire generation of up-and-comers, including Abraham Lincoln, who idolized him. He dazzled crowds, engendered fierce loyalty, and enraged both friends and foes with his frequent and unreasonable demands on them. And when his demands went unmet, as President Tyler would soon find out, he was capable of unleashing an unruly assault on his victims that rarely left them standing.

By the time Clay founded the Whig Party in 1836, he had already held almost every major position of power—speaker of the house, secretary of state, and party leader of the Senate. While he was a difficult personality, his power and influence was unquestioned. But at sixty-four years old, he still had a more ambitious vision for himself that started and ended with the presidency. When he failed to secure the Whig nomination in 1840, he began immediately thinking about 1844, which meant aggregating power under President Harrison. Believing that strong maneuverability was best achieved by retaining his spot in the Senate, Clay turned down a position as secretary of state before being offered the post and advocated instead for his political frenemy Daniel Webster. Webster, who also harbored ambitions of the presidency, was well aware that he was destined to play the role of Clay’s understudy in the Senate, and thus viewed the State Department as his own fiefdom75 through which he could broker a deal with England over the disputed Maine boundary and elevate his status as a statesman.76

Following Harrison’s inauguration, Clay’s plans hit some unexpected bumps in the road. He was surprised to find the mild-mannered general more independent than he had anticipated. President Harrison rejected most of Clay’s attempts to install his cronies in government positions and ignored his insistence that political foes be blocked from appointments. But Clay’s real wake-up call came on March 11, when the cabinet convened to make a decision on whether to call an extra session of Congress, something that he had strongly advocated. Webster, who was eager to keep Clay on the sidelines as long as possible, urged the president not to consent to a special session of Congress.77 The six-man cabinet was split down the middle and the president broke the tie with a negative vote.78 Clay responded hastily with an overzealous letter to President Harrison urging him to reconsider the special session, even including draft language of his reconsideration.79 The president was furious and responded immediately with accusations of impetuousness. He reminded the senator, “Much as I rely upon your judgment there are others whom I must consult and in many cases to determine adversely to your suggestion.”80

Clay was apoplectic. He had expected a White House dinner invitation and instead he was left with one of his greatest abasements. He was so rattled by the president’s response that a friend found him fuming in solitude, pacing the floor of his room “in great perturbation” while crumpling Harrison’s note in his hand. “And it has come to this!” he lamented to that same friend. “I am civilly but virtually requested not to visit the White House—not to see the president personally, but hereafter only communicate with him in writing!”81 Clay responded to Harrison on March 15, describing himself as “mortified . . . by the implication that [he] had been . . . dictating” and suggested that his “enemies” were “poisoning” the president’s “mind towards [him].”82 He stormed out of town, and overcome by stress he “suffered a physical collapse” by the time he reached Baltimore.83 Harrison and Clay would never see each other again.

On March 17, President Harrison reversed his position and summoned an emergency session of Congress to meet on May 31, 1841, though not because of Henry Clay’s insistence. Secretary of the Treasury Thomas Ewing—who, ironically, Clay had opposed for the position—warned of a runaway deficit exceeding $11 million unless additional revenue was quickly raised.84 Ewing argued that any hesitation on the part of the president could result in a deepening of the dire economic situation.

The president’s death on April 4 complicated Clay’s political position. John Tyler was fifty-one years old, making him at that time the youngest man to serve as chief magistrate. Born during George Washington’s first term, he represented a generational shift as the first president born in the new United States. Tyler was tall and slender, roughly six feet and somewhat gaunt in his appearance.85 He was elegant, more than imposing, carrying himself with the grace and sophistication of a proper southern gentleman. While much of his character has been recorded with bias, typically negative, most agree that he was a man of deep conviction, committed to states’ rights and a strict constructionist interpretation of the Constitution. He was known to be exceptionally well-read and a lively conversationalist who loathed confrontation, which many mistook for weakness. He was neither flashy, nor overly emotional. He had few vices, mainly the indulgence of light profanity and fine champagnes.86 More than any other figure of his time, Tyler displayed remarkable resilience in the face of an unprecedented bombardment of critique and slander in the press, including from his own party. During a March 1842 visit to the White House, Charles Dickens described the president as “look[ing] somewhat worn and anxious, and well he might, being at war with everybody—but the expression of his face was mild and pleasant, and his manner was remarkably unaffected, gentlemanly, and agreeable.”87

Tyler’s ascension to power was initially hopeful for Clay, who believed he could reclaim much of the influence over the president that he had squandered with Harrison. He did not believe the young and accidental president would be willing to oppose him and in the early days of his administration, Tyler, who owed much of his good fortune to Henry Clay, even dispensed some spoils to Clay’s friends as a demonstration of goodwill.88 But Clay’s restored standing was temporary. Tyler, like his predecessor, had no intention of becoming Henry Clay’s puppet.89

With or without the popularity of his predecessor, John Tyler had every intention of charting his own path as president. From the moment he took the oath of office, he began reversing much of what Harrison pledged in his brief tenure. He ignored Harrison loyalists who continued urging the new president to honor a single-term pledge. A principled states’ rightist, he was opposed to much of the Whig agenda, including a national bank, protective tariff, and internal improvements, all of which he viewed as unconstitutional. Furthermore, his willingness to control patronage as opposed to allowing the legislature—or Henry Clay—to dictate it, meant that he wielded enormous power over congressmen and senators who needed the president to throw jobs to their supporters.90 And rather than shake up the Harrison cabinet, he undermined it almost completely, stripping them of their equal vote in decision making and seeking outside counsel from a kitchen cabinet that included a slew of Virginia states’ righters, mainly Nathaniel Beverley Tucker, Judge Abel Upshur, Congressmen Henry Wise and Thomas Gilmer, and Senator William C. Rives.91 Much to the chagrin of the existing cabinet, these men would have enormous impact on the president, both influencing and reinforcing his ideology and views on the Whigs’ legislative agenda.

Tyler’s first few months as president were spent putting out fires, first with the nonsense about whether he could call himself “president,” then managing the impending collapse of the Whig Party. He inherited the scheduled special session of Congress, which he felt was premature and which he knew would force a showdown with Clay and his own party over a national bank he believed to be unconstitutional. This was a difficult hand, but even he had no idea what kind of firestorm awaited him. Clay, on the other hand, knew exactly the kind of chaos he wanted to create and while Tyler organized his administration, he began to mobilize the legislature for a fight. He installed proponents of the Whig agenda in the key committees across both the Senate and House and exploited the country’s dire economic conditions to coerce members of the Whig Party into either supporting his agenda or living with the country’s ruin on their conscience. Clay treated the Whig Party as his personal asset, all geared toward the end goal of making him president. For Clay, supporting the Whig agenda—particularly the national bank—became a referendum on party loyalty, and those who did not comply would be harshly punished.

Tyler would become a political casualty in Clay’s ambitious plan to push the national bank through Congress. The president’s attempts to compromise with the obstreperous Kentuckian proved futile, with Clay making it abundantly clear that his dogmatic push for states’ rights qualifications in the bank plan was unacceptable. For Tyler, his friend turned foe had become politically insufferable and, as had happened with his predecessor, his patience eventually snapped during one of their exchanges: “Go you now, then, Mr. Clay, to your end of the avenue, where stands the Capitol, and there perform your duty to the country as you shall think proper. So help me God, I shall do mine at this end of it as I shall think proper.”92 While Clay sought reconciliation from Harrison, he was prepared to wage war with Tyler. Both men understood that the first battle would be over the national bank.

Political War

When the first national bank bill reached President Tyler’s desk, it was met with a swift and unwavering veto, although the president was artful in how he conveyed the message. In particular, he wanted to avoid torpedoing the bankruptcy bill,IV which was pending in Congress,93 and which ran the risk of becoming collateral damage in a political backlash. Just before sending the bill back to Congress with his veto, the president went to Sunday mass and asked God to guide him.94 Guided by his conscience and some sort of divine reassurance, the president dispatched his private secretary and son, the twenty-two-year-old John Tyler, Jr., to deliver the message to Congress. On August 16, 1841, the young man arrived in the Senate with the veto in hand, navigated the crowds, and brought all business before the Senate chamber to a halt as he read his father’s message.95

The president’s veto message was defensive, devoting a considerable amount of attention to reminding the Senate that he had “opposed a national bank for twenty-five years, in the state legislature, both houses of Congress, and ambiguity forgotten, during the 1840 campaign.”96 He explained that the notion of Congress asserting the “right to incorporate a United States bank with power and right to establish offices of discount and deposit in the several States of this Union with or without their consent”97 went beyond the limits of Congress’s constitutional authority by suggesting that the legislative body has a “superiority of power and control” over the states.98 As a staunch states’ rightist, such a measure weighed heavily on his conscience and thus to bend to the popular will of Congress or his own party “would be to commit a crime which I would not willfully commit to gain any earthly reward, and which would justly subject me to the ridicule and scorn of all virtuous men.”99

The Democrats were overjoyed by the president’s veto. It dealt a devastating blow to the Whig agenda and represented a personal affront to the party leader, Henry Clay, whom Democrats expected to run against—and hoped to defeat—in the 1844 presidential election. That evening, Democratic leaders paraded to the White House to salute the president upon his “patriotic and courageous” action.100 The meeting between the Democrats and the Whig president became the subject of comedic ridicule by Clay, who just a few days later performed an impromptu satire on the Senate floor with voice impressions so convincing that the entire chamber burst into a bipartisan applause.101 As the Democrats rejoiced, the Whigs were out for blood. Just hours before the veto message was delivered to Congress, John Minor Botts, a Whig congressman from Virginia and mortal enemy of the president, sent an ominous letter addressed to the “coffee house, Richmond”102 eviscerating the president and suggesting that “Tonight we must and will settle matters, as quietly as possible, but they must be settled.”103

And settle it they did. Due in part to the publication of the Botts letter, word quickly spread of the president’s veto, with angry sentiments on Capitol Hill spreading to the pubs and eventually the streets. By the evening of August 17, a rowdy group of anti-Tylerites got drunk at a local tippling house and sometime between 10:00 p.m. and 2:00 a.m. made their way to the executive mansion. As was reported in the press, these “Whig rowdies, emboldened by spirituous liquids, gathered under the White House portico,”104 they began to behave like deranged lunatics looking for blood. The belligerent crowd, armed with guns and bugles,105 blunderbusses, drums, and trumpets,106 began with shouts, such as “Huzza for Clay!” and “A Bank! A Bank! Down with the Veto!”107

As the crowd grew in size, the shouts became more personal and it was reported that the impromptu drunken orchestra “serenaded [the president] and his family with a variety of favorite airs, such as the Rogues March [and] Clear the Kitchen,”108 which were two particularly obnoxious songs of the era. According to a dispatch from the Montgomery Advertiser, the crowd then “forced open the gates in front and rear, stood in the porch and shouted: ‘Bah!’ ‘Hustle him out!’ ‘Resign, God d[am]n you!’ ‘Groans for the Traitor!’ ‘Down with the veto!’ ‘Cheers for Clay!’ ”109 The Edgefield South Carolina Advertiser described how this group of “miscreants,” emboldened by mob mentality, “committed the most disgusting nuisance on the porch in front of the President’s house.”110 Lugging around a “large transparency of the President,”111 they proceeded to hang and burn the president in effigy, an act that would be repeated throughout the country.112 The New York Herald reported that by the middle of the night the growing decibel level awakened the entire executive mansion, terrifying the already feeble first lady and her children.113 It was only when a “light appeared in one of the rooms [that a] panic seized the crowd and it hastily departed.”114

The drunken spectacle surrounding the White House may have been the most visible part of this political storm, but throughout the United States, reports of similar Whig protests were widely observed, leading to rumors that President Tyler had suffered such an affront to his character that he would resign.115 But the drunken riots against the president had two immediate consequences, neither of which were thoughts of resignation. First, they led Congress to immediately pass legislation to establish a night police force in Washington,116 appropriating $7,000 for a fifteen-member Auxiliary Guard to protect against “incendiaries.”117

Second, the experience being so publicly abraded dealt a meaningful blow to the president’s honor and demoralized his presidency. Tyler had expected a backlash from his veto, but he was surprised by the violent opposition. He had failed to appreciate the centrality of a national bank to the Whig platform.118 The verbal assaults from Clay and Botts, the sozzled mob that descended on his home, the public thrashings, and effigy hangings in multiple states, all served as a direct affront to Tyler’s character.119 It didn’t stop either. Even though the riots lasted one evening (although some papers reported multiple nights), the fear within the Tyler household remained, and a steady flow of letters poured in threatening him with assassination.120

While drunken Whigs took to the streets, Tyler held out hope that there might be room for compromise to rectify the political deadlock. A second version of the bank bill was in the works, and this time around he insisted on seeing the final language of the bill before it was sent to the House. Despite this insistence, he wasn’t shown the bill before it reached the House. The president was irate, particularly with Secretaries Webster and Ewing, who had incorrectly declared that the “new bill conformed to the President’s opinions and bore his imprimatur.” Once he saw the language, Tyler made it clear that the final form did not suit him, particularly it failed to give the states enough leeway to restrict the branches.121 This was the precise situation that he wanted to avoid. Tyler, who had been careful to maintain a poker face, was so incensed that he once again broke from strategy and told two House members that “he would have his right [arm cut off], and his left arm too, before he would sign the Bill.”122

The bill passed in both the House and Senate with relative ease,123 putting Tyler in the uncomfortable position of having to prove his defiance. He regretted that the bank bill had gotten caught up in partisan politics and felt so strongly about this that he initially included a pledge not to run in 1844 as part of his veto message. After several iterations on the language, however, Daniel Webster and Duff Green, who was another one of the president’s trusted confidants, convinced him that he couldn’t afford to further weaken his position with the Whigs.124 With his veto message done, Tyler readied himself for the second battle of a civil war with his own party.

On Thursday morning, September 9, the president dispatched his eldest son, Robert—who, like John Tyler, Jr., also served as a private secretary—to deliver the second veto message to a packed House.125 Tyler was well aware that this was his second veto in less than two months. The message sought to clarify that he exercised a second veto with legal certainty but political regret. He described himself as having “no alternative” and sought to articulate the two bad options that lay before him, “he must either exert the negative power entrusted to him by the Constitution chiefly for its own preservation, protection, and defense or commit an act of gross moral turpitude. Mere regard to the will of a majority must not in a constitutional republic like ours control this sacred and solemn duty of a sworn officer.”126 In an empathetic appeal, he reminded everyone of the extraordinary circumstances of his ascension, the extra session of Congress, and the haste in which they had taken on the bank issue. He asked, “May we not now pause until a more favorable time, when, with the most anxious hope that the Executive and Congress may cordially unite, some measure of finance may be deliberately adopted promotive of the good of our common country?”127

Whereas Tyler’s first veto resulted in a drunken and violent mob that could be dismissed as peripheral buffoons, the second veto produced an all-out brawl on the floor of Congress, ironically between different factions of the same Whig Party. It started with Edward Stanly, a southern Whig from North Carolina, who desired a national bank and who loathed any argument that favored states’ rights over a strong Union. He stood before the House chamber and “charged” his Virginia colleague Henry Wise with “inconsistency,” which must have been the 1841 version of a cheap shot. Wise, who was among President Tyler’s closest confidants in Congress and known by many to be the leader of his kitchen cabinet, suggested the two men take their feud outside and settle it like men. Stanly preferred to settle things in the chamber and continued with the insults, this time calling Wise a “liar.” Wise had enough and threw the first punch.128

What followed was a general hullabaloo.129 In one detailed account, provided by the Ohio Democrat,130 the House floor was described as having degenerated into a “street fight” with “most of the members rush[ing] to the scene of action, and crowd[ing] round the combatants, some jumping from desk to desk over the heads of other members, and others uttering exclamations of all descriptions such as ‘order order,’ ‘go it Stanly,’ ‘Give it to him Stanly.’ ”131 Stanly grabbed “the collar of Mr. Wise with one hand, and with the other was putting it into his antagonist who was thrown with his back against a desk.”132

Within minutes, a fight between a few men turned into a brawl. William O. Butler, a veteran of the War of 1812 turned Kentucky congressman, lunged toward Thomas D. Arnold of Tennessee, grabbing him “by the throat, thr[owing] him with the small of his back on the arm of a chair, and chok[ing] him until his tongue protruded down to his cravat.”133 Amidst the chaos, Speaker of the House John White, who would be the main culprit in an even worse brawl on the floor of Congress three years later, screamed for order, but failed. Recognizing that yelling for calm was insufficient, the House clerk “seized the Sergeant at Arms’ mace and ran bout the house with the ponderous instrument on his shoulder like a Roman battle axe screaming ‘order, gentlemen order.’ ”134 That didn’t work either. Aaron V. Brown of Tennessee jumped on one of the desks and cried, “For the honor of your country and for the love of God come to order.” Others shouted “order be damned” and “go into them—let ’em have it.” Hundreds of voices were now vying for airtime, which only contributed to the commotion.

Finally, Thomas Gilmer and George Proffit, a Whig congressman from Indiana, “cleared the desks at a hop skip and jump into the midst of the affray; neighbor clutched neighbor, and they struggled pushed, roared, and cursed each other in perfect desperation.” As momentum shifted toward restoring order, “Butler relaxed his gripe of Arnold’s throat,” Louisiana’s John B. Dawson “threw Stanley across his knees,” while Dixon H. Lewis of Alabama’s “at large” posseV used his big frame and “ponderous arm” to clear the area and hold back Mr. Wise. As everyone caught their breath, Aaron Ward, a general from New York, screamed, “Gentlemen that wish to restore order take your seats.” Amazingly everyone returned to their desks and fixed their clothes. Congressman Wise rose to apologize and everyone quickly moved on.135

While members of Congress pummeled each other physically, Tyler’s many critics—particularly those aligned with Henry Clay—launched another onslaught of verbal assaults. The Kentucky-born Indiana congressman Henry Smith Lane said, “Tyler was guilty of perfidy and his name could be added to the list of other American traitors: Benedict Arnold, Isaac Hull, and Aaron Burr.” And Senator Willie Person Mangum lambasted Tyler as “mad, weak and a traitor.”136

The president was up against the ropes with no clear remedy to his predicament. Clay, who smelled blood in the water, went for the kill and used a September 9 dinner at the navy secretary’s home to orchestrate a mass cabinet resignation. Two days later, on September 11, that plan went into effect. As recounted by Tyler’s biographers, from “12:30 to 5:30 P.M., five cabinet officers marched into Tyler’s office and laid their resignations on his desk while John Tyler, Jr., the President’s secretary, stood by, watch in hand, recording for posterity the exact moment of each resignation.” Clay’s goal had been to use the decimation of the cabinet as a way to cripple the executive branch, humiliate the president in the wake of his two bank vetoes, and ultimately force his resignation. If Clay’s goal was Tyler’s resignation, then this plan was tantamount to a coup. With the vice presidency vacant, the next in line to the presidency was Samuel L. Southard, who served as president pro tempore of the Senate and, more important, was a hard-core Clay loyalist.137

The president was well aware of Clay’s plan and had anticipated the cabinet walkout. His friends James Russell of Pennsylvania and John Taliaferro of Virginia had intimated that the bank bills were designed to provoke presidential vetoes, which Clay believed would trigger a set of events that would destroy Tyler’s presidency.138 Tyler had no intention of resigning even in the wake of a mass cabinet walk-out. Reflecting on the incident in 1844, he wrote, “My resignation would amount to a declaration to the world that our system of government had failed.”139 Still, the timing could not have been worse. The last resignation came in late afternoon that Saturday and Congress had voted to adjourn the following Monday, which left only a small window to reconstitute a new cabinet. Tyler, a strict constructivist even when inconvenient, held the strong belief that such vacancies could only be filled while the Senate remained in session. Following this logic, he would have to move fast or find himself without a cabinet for three months until the next session, a fate that would leave him without anyone at the helm of the various departments and likely force him to resign over his inability to run the government.140

Tyler expected and welcomed the resignations, especially since he regretted retaining them. He had inherited a cabinet comprised of mostly Clay men, and thus feared intrigue at every turn from his own advisors. The one exception was Daniel Webster, who could deliver a loyal constituency of New England supporters and help thwart Clay since the two men were rivals.141 The president also understood that unlike the other members of the cabinet, Webster was far more torn on whether he should resign. The last thing Webster wanted was to hand Clay a political victory, especially since the two were likely to face off in the 1844 presidential election. Tyler’s resigning on anything but his own terms would be tantamount to an endorsement of his political rival.142

Webster needed the secretary of state platform in order to bolster his own credentials. If he could settle two boundary disputes with England—Maine at the forty-fifth parallel and Oregon at the forty-ninth parallel—and facilitate the dismantling of the Mexican Empire in California, he could claim a major diplomatic victory that would enhance his presidential prospects two years later.143 But this required navigating a complex dynamic with the president, who was quickly becoming persona non grata with the party and who harbored his own aspirations for the 1844 nomination. It was a tricky situation and Webster chose to take it head-on. “Where am I to go, Mr. President?” he asked. The president turned it back to his secretary of state, suggesting, “You must decide that for yourself, Mr. Webster.” Continuing the theatrics, Webster declared, “If you leave it to me, Mr. President, I will stay where I am.” Tyler was likely relieved, but not surprised. He stood from his chair and leaned forward, gazing into his eyes: “Give me your hand on that, and now I will say to you that Henry Clay is a doomed man.”144

But if Clay was doomed, so, too, was Tyler. He was now essentially at war with his own party with no hope of rectifying the situation. Eventually the escalating tension came to a breaking point. On September 13, a group of fifty Whig zealots in Congress caucused on Capitol Square,145 and led by the Whig novelist and congressman John P. Kennedy of Baltimore, they publicly kicked the president out of the party. In their manifesto of excommunication, “the Whig party,” they declared, “loathed his action, especially for reviving Jackson’s executive tyranny.”146 Clay triumphantly declared that Tyler was now “a president without a party”147 and the Whig papers—Richmond Whig, Enquirer, The Lexington Intelligencer, and New York Courier—tore the president apart. They described Tyler as the “Executive Ass,” revived labels of “His Accidency,” and one paper described him as “a man destitute of intellect and integrity, whose name is the synonym of nihil.”148

Tyler’s excommunication was a blessing and a curse. It was humiliating for the president, but it also unshackled him to do what his party (and predecessor) never would have done. Despite what his opponents assumed would be an impossible task, he reassembled his cabinet with remarkable speed, completing the refurbishment by mid-October. This time around, he would make sure to be surrounded by men who were subordinate loyalists who believed in his legitimacy as president.149 In a letter to his good friend Thomas Cooper in October 1841, Tyler celebrated his extrication from the trappings of Harrison’s cabinet by offering the following description: “Like myself, they are all original Jackson men, and mean to act upon Republican principles.” The letter explained that he would require “conform[ity] to my opinions” on all issues.150

The Whigs were so busy pummeling the president that they lost their edge in the lead-up to the 1841 elections. The vetoes hurt Tyler, but they also hurt the Whigs, particularly since the vetoes were seen as victories for the Democrats. The party paid a heavy price at the ballot box, losing six of the eight gubernatorial races—in Maine, Georgia, Maryland, Pennsylvania, Michigan, and Mississippi. Outside the gubernatorial races, they had been annihilated in state legislative races that fall, which would have an impact on the Senate, which was elected through state legislatures.151 To many outside and inside observers, the Whigs appeared to be finished. John Calhoun declared the Whigs “destroyed” and predicted “they can never again rise under their present name, nor on their present issues.”152

When Congress reconvened on December 7, 1841, Tyler used his annual address and newfound independence to begin expressing an idea that would come to define the rest of his presidency. Buried behind his financial proposals and a multitude of foreign policy issues was a reference to Texas, which was made without sectional reference and with brilliant subtlety. He called out discrepancies in the boundaries with Texas, but quickly pivoted to his observation that, “the United States cannot but take a deep interest in whatever relates to this young but growing [Lone Star] Republic. Settled principally by emigrants from the United States, we have the happiness to know that the great principles of civil liberty are there destined to flourish under wise institutions and wholesome laws.”153

The Whigs were so hell-bent on destroying Tyler that they completely missed his having telegraphed his next move, which was to use the prize of Texas as a pathway to winning the presidency in his own right. Instead, they were consumed with destroying Tyler’s domestic agenda, and as part of this strategy they held the president’s budget hostage as a way to coerce him into adopting Whig legislation. This political move boxed the president into a situation where vetoing any Whig legislation meant he would be destroying the country’s livelihood.154 They waited six months before bringing any legislation to the floor and when they finally did in June 1842, Henry Clay and his cohort ensured that any bill they drafted would be unacceptable to the president. The aim was to provoke as many vetoes as possible so they could levy accusations of “perfidy” and “treason” and “executive dictatorship” in response to each veto. This didn’t deter the president,155 who with each veto found his relationship with the Whig Party growing from bad to worse. The Whig leadership even withheld funds for a much needed White House restoration.156 John Crittenden, a prominent Whig who had served as Tyler’s attorney general for his first year as president, wrote, “My wish is to see the Whig party rid of him—rid of the nuisance. Whigs should strip him of all disguise and expose his true character of enmity and hostility.”157

From Crittenden’s perspective, it was not good enough to have just kicked him out of the party; he wanted the president removed from office. His Whig colleagues agreed and by July 19, 1842, began impeachment proceedings against the president158 for the first time in history. Tyler, who by this time had toughened up and had the bruises to show for it, weathered this new round of abuse with his seasoned pragmatism: “Because I will not go with him [Clay], I am abused in Congress and out, as man never was before—assailed as a traitor, and threatened with impeachment. But let it pass. Other attempts are to be made to head me, and we shall see how they will succeed.”159

Tyler had reached a new low point in his popularity. He was hated by the press, hated by the people, and admired only by a small coterie of Tylerites. Millard Fillmore, a Whig congressman from New York who would himself become an accidental president a decade later, snarkingly joked to colleagues, “I have heard of but two Tyler men in this city [Buffalo] and none in the country, and I need not add that both of these are applicants for office.”160 The dislike for him became so widespread that satire became vernacular, some even giving the nickname “Tyler Grippe” to a nationwide epidemic of influenza.161

Winning the Presidency in His Own Right

By the spring of 1842, Tyler began to shift his attention away from his congressional battles and redirected it toward the twin goals of annexing Texas and winning office in his own right. He understood that political excommunication made the path to reelection difficult, but not impossible. He still controlled federal patronage and used this privilege to his advantage. With this resource, Tyler embarked on what was dubbed a political “reign of terror,” in which he replaced large numbers of Whig officeholders with Democrats.162 For Democrats, this was a blessed period, but for the Whigs it was disastrous and painful.163

Despite Tyler’s maneuvering, his path to victory in 1844 would prove more difficult than he expected due to a series of miscalculations. First, he really was despised and he underestimated the full impact three years of media assaults had on the public’s perception of him. He had assumed incorrectly that the harsh critiques were a Washington phenomenon and did not permeate the masses. He was out of touch, in part because during his entire presidency he never really spent time with people. He didn’t know the voters and made almost no attempts to correct the loathsome image painted by the anti-Tyler press.

Second, Tyler hoped and believed he would be welcomed back into the Democratic Party, which would nominate him for president in 1844. But while the Democrats appreciated and agreed with Tyler’s anti-Clay sentiments, they neither trusted nor forgave him for the Whig assault on their candidate’s reputation in the campaign of 1840. Tyler mistook their courtship as a vested interest in his career prospects, when the Democrats’ real interest was in exploiting his situation to divide the rival Whig Party.

Once Tyler realized he would not be given the nomination as a Democrat, he hoped to peel away enough votes from Democrats and Whigs to ensure that neither party’s nominee could muster enough electoral votes to win the election. This would throw the election to the House of Representatives, which could then decide to make him president. This was not far-fetched, given that two elections—1800 and 1824—were decided by the House of Representatives after neither candidate received the required electoral majority. But this, too, was a miscalculation. Tyler lacked a sufficient support base to peel away enough votes to achieve this outcome.

Tyler’s future seemed hopeless. By the summer of 1843, the economy began to recover, which allowed the Whigs to make a comeback and rally around Henry Clay. Clay’s temporary retirement had afforded him the opportunity to hold court in Kentucky and build his political machinery. The Democrats seemed poised to nominate Martin Van Buren, which meant that a Clay victory was all but guaranteed since Van Buren was unlikely to excite the populace. But the Whigs overestimated both the cohesiveness of their own base and divisions within the Democratic Party.164

The president had one more trick up his sleeve. Just as Clay was all but ready to assume victory, the president injected the prospects of annexing Texas into the public discourse. For Tyler, Texas was about his personal political resurrection, although he was more than happy to simultaneously create obstacles for his rivals. Annexation would destabilize both parties by creating tensions between land-hungry Anglophobes and pro-slavery factions.165 By this logic, it would offer the president—still without a party—a new political base comprised of southern Democratic expansionists, northern anti–Van Buren Democrats, and southern states’ rights Whigs.166 If that base was large enough, he could form a third party and have a real shot at winning the presidency in 1844.

Texas was a dangerous political issue for everyone except the president, who at this point had little to lose. None of Tyler’s predecessors had been supportive of annexation, and by late 1842 there was still no evidence that public sentiments about Texas had changed. Both parties saw Texas as a losing issue, destined to lead whichever candidate dared embrace annexation to alienate either the abolitionist or anti-abolitionist blocs that they desperately needed to win the presidency.167 Furthermore, both front-runner candidates—Van Buren and Clay—had made their opposition to annexation known publicly and had no intention of flip-flopping.168

Tyler pushed Texas to the front of his agenda, making it so neither party would be able to bow out of the debate. His relentless pursuit of annexation was made easier by the fact that in addition to the reasons related to his political survival, he fundamentally believed in annexation, particularly as a southern slaveholder. Tyler owed much of his political opportunity to slavery and used the sale of slaves to finance his political career. When his father passed away in 1813, the then twenty-three-year-old Tyler inherited his first thirteen slaves, and added more that same year upon his marriage to Letitia Christian.169 One of those slaves, Ann Eliza (also the slave with whom Tyler had the closest relationship), ended up being sold to fund his run for Senate.170 He was in a tight spot financially and wrote to his brother-in-law soliciting “as speedy a sale as can be made,”171 even granting permission to “hand her over to the Hubbard’sVI for public auction” if he could not secure a neighborhood sale.172

If protection of slavery was Tyler’s domestic rallying cry, then Anglophobia was his geopolitical raison d’être. He hated and feared England. So deep was his hatred that during a tour of Niagara Falls, he allegedly refused to experience the better view from Canada, lest he stand on British soil.173 Tyler and his cohorts believed that the British were bankrolling American abolitionists to foment chaos as part of their imperialist intrigue.174 Abel Upshur, who like Tyler feared the prospect of slave insurrections,175 concluded in a letter to John Calhoun, “There can be no doubt . . . that England is determined to abolish slavery throughout the American continent and islands if she can.”176

The president’s answer to this British threat—real or perceived—was to annex Texas as soon as possible. In order to do this, he would need to bury the sectional arguments, promulgate a nationalist narrative, and wrap it all in a package of urgency. He also needed to get Texas on board. The Lone Star Republic, as it was known at the time, had enjoyed five years of independence after winning the Battle of San Jacinto in 1836.177 The United States had twice rejected Texas’s offer of annexation under previous administrations, first during the Jackson administration and later the Van Buren presidency. In an act of desperation, Texas President Sam Houston began flamboyantly courting a relationship with Britain.178 In all likelihood, Houston used flirtation with America’s chief rival to woo her into the annexation camp—at least that is what he claimed several years later.179 This subtle message was lost on Tyler, who perceived the advances toward Britain as a real threat. There was also the issue of Mexico, which Tyler viewed as a vehicle for British agitation. By the time the president considered the Texas question, tensions between the United States and Mexico were at an all-time high and Texas was terrified that even entertaining annexation would result in a war with Mexico that they were ill-equipped to win.

Tyler may have wanted to annex Texas immediately, but he also understood that he needed a more tempered approach given the political land mines. His strategy was implemented in phases, beginning with patience. Daniel Webster was still secretary of state and seemed well on the path to successfully negotiating the Webster-Ashburton Treaty, which would resolve the border between Maine and England’s colonies to the north. But Webster was anti-annexation and couldn’t be counted on to negotiate a treaty with Texas, not to mention that he would likely resign if the president asked him to. This strategy proved wise as Webster completed his own treaty and eventually left the administration on May 8, 1843, to begin exploring his own presidential run. While he would go on to criticize the march toward Texas, his critique from outside was far more manageable than it would have been from within.

Tyler used Webster’s exit as an opportunity to further pack his cabinet with Texas annexation enthusiasts. He had already brought in a new secretary of the treasury, John C. Spencer, who was a hard-charging New Yorker and had previously run the War Department. By all accounts, Spencer was ready to do whatever the president asked, including purge those at the Treasury Department in opposition to his plan and to treat annexation as a loyalty oath for all new appointments.180 Tyler wanted someone similar for secretary of state, a shark who exhibited an even greater yearning for Texas than he had. Abel Upshur, described by Tyler as the country’s most “enthusiastic advocate of annexation,”181 was the perfect man for the job.

Upshur accepted the appointment and joined the administration on June 24, giving the president another key ally in the cabinet. Still, Tyler needed to exercise patience as the polarizing nature of the Texas issue meant that in these early stages, the work was best handled by secret agents who could work outside of the public domain. Such an approach would allow him covertly to set the wheels of annexation in motion. This was not the first time that President Tyler relied on covert action abroad; he was the first president to so robustly deploy such tactics. Beginning in the fall of 1841 he tapped his good friend and advisor, Duff Green, to undertake a series of covert missions to England with the clever cover of a “businessman and industrial promoter.”182 Paranoid that American influencers were stoking the British flame of abolitionism, Tyler tasked Green to subvert American abolitionists,183 including John Quincy Adams, who, when he learned of this scheme, publicly unmasked Green as Tyler’s pro-slavery operative.184

Tyler’s Texas intrigue relied on similar tactics, but with greater success in keeping a secret. To bring Texas to the table, Tyler ordered Secretary of the Treasury John C. Spencer to draw $100,000 from a secret service contingency fundVII and covertly transfer the money to an undercover agent in New York City who would use it to pay for the deployment of a naval force into the Gulf of Mexico. If he wanted to maintain a veil of secrecy, the covert disbursement of funds was the only way to give Texas its requested naval protection against Mexico.185 This plan hit an unexpected speed bump when, much to Tyler’s surprise, Spencer refused, insisting that such an action was illegal. He resigned his post on May 2 the following year.

Covert activities aside, Tyler understood that if he wanted Texas he would need to win over the American public. Any annexation treaty would require two-thirds of the Senate for ratification. Given his relationship with the Whigs, Tyler appreciated that he lacked the ability to jam this through. But if he could change the political tide and elevate annexation to a national rallying cry, he believed the Senate would have no choice but to ratify. This would have the added electoral benefit of taking a divisive issue—annexation—and distinguishing himself by making it his, since both the Democratic and Whig front-runners had openly opposed it.

The Texas mission was a tough task. Texas remained skeptical that the U.S. Senate would ratify a treaty of annexation, which would lead them to fend for themselves in a likely war with Mexico. On December 13, 1843, the Texas government let Upshur know that they were uneasy about negotiations, asking why they should risk conflict with Mexico if ratification wasn’t guaranteed.186 Upshur didn’t give up. On January 16, 1844, he sent a lengthy message via Isaac Van Zandt, who was the Texas chargé d’affaires in the United States, and attempted to explain away previous American snubs. “The issue had not been understood . . . by the American public,” Upshur wrote, emphasizing “that the present chief executive was eager for annexation.” The letter went on to highlight the dangers of Texas turning to England, arguing, “The policy of England is purely commercial. Her object is to engross the commerce of the world—by diplomacy, if she can; and by force, if she must. She is bent on destroying slavery. War with her is inevitable. The peace of the civilized world, the destinies of millions in Europe and America depend . . . on the decision of Texas.” Upshur insisted that there had been a shift in public opinion on annexation, particularly among northerners, who now are “not only favorable to, but anxious for it,” and boasted that they had the two-thirds majority required in the Senate.187

Upshur certainly knew how to put an optimistic spin on things. But he also understood that Texas needed security assurances or the treaty would be a nonstarter. Lone Star president Sam Houston had been burned before and understood that any visible attempt to negotiate with the United States of America could invite an attack from Mexico. He insisted that this concern be addressed as a precondition to talks.188 On January 17, 1844, an overzealous Van Zandt went off script and asked Upshur to deploy Army and naval forces near the border and in the Gulf of Mexico.189 This placed Upshur in an awkward position as he knew only Congress could authorize this. Whatever Upshur’s reply to Van Zandt, the Texan wrote to his government on January 20, 1844:

I am authorized by the secretary of state, who speaks by the authority of the president . . . to say that the moment a treaty of annexation shall be signed, a large naval force will be assembled in the Gulf of Mexico upon the coast of Texas, and that a sufficient number of the Military force will be ordered to rendezvous upon the borders of Texas ready to attack as circumstances may require; and that these assurances will be officially given preliminary to the signing of the treaty if desired by the government of Texas; and that this government will say to Mexico that she must in no wise disturb or molest Texas.190

Whether Upshur actually agreed to this or Van Zandt just made the whole thing up, it worked; and on January 20, 1844, Houston told his Congress that annexation was in their best interest.191 A few weeks later, on February 5, 1844, the Texas Congress approved Houston’s program. Following the approval, Upshur made a verbal commitment to the Texans that upon consummation of the treaty, “the President would make a precautionary disposal of troops in the neighborhood of Texas, and employ all the means placed within his power by the Constitution to protect Texas from foreign invitations.”192 With security assurances in place, Houston dispatched General J. P. Henderson to Washington to negotiate the treaty with Van Zandt, but he would not arrive until early March. That delay would prove fatal in more ways than they could imagine.193


Princeton Explosion

With the Texas treaty nearly complete, John Tyler finally had reason to bask in glory. The negotiations had been kept secret and he was regaining his confidence about the prospects of winning the 1844 election. The good news coincided with an unrelated celebration of American naval power, which was to take place on board the USS Princeton. The “gala on the Potomac”—as it became known—was the most coveted invitation that winter and the nation’s capital had been buzzing for weeks with speculation about who was invited. With wind in his sails and plenty to celebrate, the president looked forward to being the guest of honor.

Guests began to arrive at the wharf in Alexandria around 11:00 a.m. on February 28, 1844. One Maryland paper reported, “The sun rose clear and bright, and the town from early in the morning presented a gay and busy scene. Nearly all the carriages were engaged, and freighted with the loveliness, beauty, and grace of the city.”194 The barrage of arrivals showcased the upper echelon of Washington society for all to see: the women dressed in beautiful gowns; the men sported morning suits and top hats; and strapping officers from young lieutenants to decorated generals were decked out in their dress uniforms.

As small boats shuttled the rich and powerful from the docks to the Princeton, crowds massed along the river to observe the scene and identify famous guests. By the time the last carriage dropped off its passengers, more than three hundred socialites, legislators, aristocrats, power-hungry ambitious types, diplomatic corps, and decorated war heroes joined the president and all but one member of the cabinet to celebrate America’s naval prowess. Of all the guests on board that day—including the president—none attracted more attention than Dolley Madison, the seventy-six-year-old former first lady and widow of the great James Madison.195 She was a captivating figure—the closest living link to the founding fathers. Her colorful attire and feathered hat transformed her into a statuesque presence that morning.196

No expense was spared on the party. While there had been two prior excursions on the Princeton—one on January 16 for the president and department heads and the other on January 20 for members of Congress—this was her first time welcoming the public.197 The entire ship was decked out for the occasion with every rope and yard198 adorned in flags of countries from all around the world, suggesting that American power was on display for all to see. Just before departure, the Marines offered a twenty-six-gun salute,199 while the Marine Band played “The Star-Spangled Banner,” “Hail Columbia,” and “Hail to the Chief.”200

The ship was magnificent. It was the American Navy’s “state-of-the-art nautical wonder,” equipped with two twelve-inch guns nicknamed the “Oregon” and the “Peacemaker,” each able to fire 225-pound shells up to five miles with a fifty-pound powder charge.201 The twin guns were the largest in the world, and the guests on board would have the opportunity to be the first members of the public to see them in action.

More than just a magnificent ship, the Princeton symbolized an inflection point for America. The perceived threat from Britain still lingered thirty-two years after the War of 1812. President Tyler was particularly vexed by what he believed to be an ongoing and secret British plot aimed at fostering an abolitionist insurgency in the South. In his view and the view of many in his inner circle, America would never truly be independent from Britain unless it could protect its coastline and defend its seas with a world-class navy. The Princeton was to be a symbol of that independence and power. In addition to a good party, officials hoped that the greatness of the ship and its two guns would reverberate across the Atlantic in a way that would deter future acts of aggression.

President Tyler had several presidential reasons to celebrate, but he had a more personal conquest that excited him about the journey. David Gardiner, a wealthy former state senator and aristocrat from New York, brought his daughter Julia, whom the widower president had been actively courting since his wife diedVIII and she was barely twenty-four. Undeterred by their thirty-year age difference, Tyler was determined to make Julia his wife. He had already attempted a proposal, but was rebuffed when his would-be mother-in-law interjected on account of what she deemed to be an inappropriate age difference. Mrs. Gardiner’s opposition to the proposal also served as a convenient excuse for Julia, who had become a fixture of the Washington social scene. She was fair with a round face. Her hair was often half-up and half-down, curled on the sides and back where it dangled just below her shoulders. And on top of her head, she frequently wore a beaded piece of jewelry that looked like the crown of a young princess. Julia’s beauty, wealth, and connections led to an inundation of suitors, of which the president was just one of many. She was “flattered by the president’s attention,” but it didn’t sway her emotions.202 But the ever-persistent Tyler was determined to prove her wrong and sweep the young Julia off her feet.

The Princeton began its short journey just after 1:00 p.m., heading for Fort Washington and Mount Vernon.203 Just past Fort Washington, the width of the Potomac allowed for sufficient breathing room to fire the Peacemaker.204 The sailors had erected a kind of scaffolding for the ladies to stand on,205 so that the jubilant and already tipsy crowds could cheer the sound of the magnificent gun, which had already been fired twice earlier in the voyage. Guests marveled at the rumbling sounds of power that emanated from the state-of-the-art gun and sent ripples throughout the calm waters of the Potomac. Some on board claimed to have seen the ball bounce at least seven times on the water and some claimed fifteen or sixteen times.206

Meanwhile, the lower deck of the ship was transformed into a salon with the finest wines and refreshments.207 There was insufficient space for the entire party to eat together, so meals were prepared in two shifts, the first of which served mostly women. At around 3:00 p.m. the remaining guests (which included the president)—many of whom were now hungry and drunk—made their way downstairs. Julia straggled behind above deck with her father and presumably some of her suitors, who were always aplenty. The president noticed her absence and sent his official wingman to find her. The emissary enticed the mingling apple of the president’s eye with a frivolous injunction: “The President wishes to take you into the collation which is just served. I suppose you will have to obey orders.”208 Charmed, but not won over, the young Julia temporarily acquiesced.

The banquet was worthy of the occasion. The chef on board prepared a delicious lunch of roast fowl and ham,209 which drew adulation from the crowd. As guests completed their final course, the secretary of state clinked his glass to get everyone’s attention and stood to toast the president. Realizing he had grabbed an empty bottle of champagne, he said with some levity that the “dead bodies” must be cleared away before he could begin. Captain Robert Stockton, who was the ship’s architect and who seized every opportunity to attract attention to himself, piped up to remind the secretary that “there are plenty of living bodies to replace the dead ones,” after which he offered the secretary of state a full bottle.210 President Tyler, charmed by the exchange, stood up to offer a pithy toast “to the three great guns: the Princeton, her commander and the Peacemaker.”211

As lunch wound down, Captain Stockton received word that the ship was approaching Mount Vernon, the home of America’s first president, and that some of the guests wanted the Peacemaker fired a third time in tribute to the founding father. Stockton, who was initially apprehensive about pushing the gun’s limits, agreed when he learned the request came directly from the secretary of the navy. The gun exploded when fired at 4:06 p.m.,212 shaking the entire ship and leaving behind a dense cloud of smoke enveloping the group on the forecastle.213 The smoke was heavy, eventually clearing and revealing the devastating situation. The force of the blast sent guests flying backward and so many bodies lay flat on the deck that at first it appeared as if dozens of people were dead. Women’s cocktail dresses were drenched in blood and dismembered body parts scattered across the deck. Top hats and bonnets were blown off and landed in the water, creating confusion about whether some passengers had fallen overboard. Gigantic lumps of wrought iron from the cannon’s port side flew across the deck, creating a blizzard of shrapnel.214 Some smaller fragments pierced hats and tails of coats with the trajectory of bullets. “Twenty feet of the ship’s bulwark had been ripped away and bodies were strewn everywhere, with bits of flesh scattered about,” writes Niall Kelly in “The Forgotten Tragedy.” “The acrid smell of gunpowder mixed with the smell of burning flesh hung heavily on the air.”215

One huge piece of iron landed on Abel Upshur’s breast, killing him, and required two sailors to remove it.216 The blast also killed Secretary of the Navy Thomas Gilmer. These were the two most important officials in Tyler’s cabinet. They were the architects of both the president’s dreams: the annexation of Texas and the development of a world-class navy. Secretary of War William Wilkins should have also died, but he moved to the other end of the Princeton after anxiously expressing distaste for the firing.217 Virgil Maxcy, the U.S. chargé d’affaires to Belgium; Beverley Kennon, the Navy’s chief of construction; and David Gardiner, the former state senator and millionaire father of Julia Gardiner, were among the other distinguished guests who perished in the blast.

Others died as well, including two seamen and Armistead,218 John Tyler’s personal slave. The latter, a “stout black man about twenty-three or twenty-four years old,” would have normally been out of sight, but the president granted him special permission to witness the firing. When the gun exploded, he had been leaning against a cannon, which was hit with a large piece of shrapnel. According to an eyewitness account by George Sykes of New Jersey, he survived for “about an hour after—when they came to examine him and lay him out neither surgeon of the Princeton nor any other person could discover the slightest wound or injury about him.”219 John Tyler, hardly a champion of equal rights for blacks—dead or alive—offered $200 compensation to Armistead’s mother,220 who was presumably also Tyler’s slave.

The scene was unimaginable, with the bodies of Upshur, Kennon, and Maxcy gruesomely dismembered.221 Gardiner lost both his arms and legs and bled to death,222 after hanging on for about half an hour.223 The secretary of state’s “arms and legs were broken and his bowels torn out” and “Maxcy’s severed arm struck a lady in the head, covering her face with blood and knocking off her bonnet.”224 As several men attempted to come to Maxcy’s aid and lay him flat, his other “arm came off about halfway between his arm and wrist.”225 Twenty others were wounded, including Captain Stockton, whose hair was singed226 and who suffered powder burns. Senator Thomas Hart Benton was knocked unconscious227 and his right eardrum was punctured. Nine seamen were injured, some severely.228 And one of the daughters of Postmaster General Charles Wickliffe, who was one of the few women above deck when the gun exploded, sustained light injuries and was fortunately the only woman injured in the blast.229

Other notables just barely escaped death. Whig senator from Tennessee Spencer Jarnagin, Democratic senator from Indiana Edward Hannegan, and a handful of foreign ministers were all blown to the floor, and while disoriented they each returned to their feet miraculously unscathed. Senator Samuel Phelps lost all the buttons on his coat, but was unharmed. Thomas Jesup, the controversial general from the Second Seminole War, barely survived after shrapnel from the gun nearly hit his face.230

The grief that immediately ensued was pierced in the minds of anyone present that day. The president wept bitterly when he saw the dead bodies of Upshur and Gilmer.231 Dolley Madison vowed never to speak of the event again, so long as she lived, which was remarkably another five years. Mrs. Gilmer went into a state of shock. She shed not a single tear and instead sat on deck, with her hair disheveled, pale as death, struggling with her feelings with dignity. Her lips quivering, her eyes fixed and upturned, without a tear, only the corners a little moist, soliloquizing: “Oh certainly not!—Mr. Gilmer cannot be dead! Who would dare to injure him! Yes oh Lord, have mercy upon me! Oh Lord, have mercy on me!”232

The disaster on board the Princeton killed more top U.S. government officials in a single day than any other tragedy in American history.233 The twin vacancies left by Upshur’s and Gilmer’s passing were enough to change the course of history, but what’s more extraordinary is that President Tyler was not among the dead. By a stroke of luck, William Waller, a young attorney from Williamsburg and the president’s son-in-law—married to his daughter Elizabeth234—began singing one of the president’s favorite Revolutionary War songs, which caused the president to pause on his way to witness the third and final firing of the Peacemaker. Upon hearing the tune, the president excused himself from the crowd, telling those around him, “When I was a young man that was one of the most popular songs in Virginia—and as I have not heard it for 20 years or more I prefer returning to the cabin and listening to it instead of seeing the gun fired again.”235 This proved a life-saving decision for the president and the “large number” of people who followed him below deck.

Tyler was in a joyous mood, singing along with Waller while holding a drink in his hand. Julia Gardiner, who was probably the real reason the president stayed back, was also below deck, although she was busy entertaining the flirtatious advances of John Potter Stockton, the captain’s young son.236 Just as Waller reached a critical line in the song, “eight hundred men lay slain,” the Peacemaker was fired on the deck above. The song and the blast were so in sync that those around him rejoiced in cheers.237 The joy was short-lived, as a loud voice from above deck shrieked that the secretary of state was dead. The president scurried up the ladder and when he reached the scene of the disaster, those who had been killed were already being covered with flags and blankets, while the injured were brought below deck and attended to by physicians.238

Tyler’s death in office would have sent the U.S. deep into constitutional crisis. Controversy already surrounded his claim to the presidency, and he did not replace himself, since there was no constitutional mechanism for doing so. His death would have left a double vacancy in the nation’s two highest offices. Had that happened, today’s line of succession would point in the direction of John Winston Jones, who was speaker of the house. But the act of succession was different in 1844. Section 9 of the Presidential Succession Act of 1792 provided that in the event of twin vacancies of the presidency and vice presidency, the president pro tempore of the Senate would serve as “Acting President” until a new election could be scheduled.

That man would have been Willie Person Mangum, a planter from North Carolina who had risen to become president pro tempore of the Senate. He may be lost in the footnotes of history, but he nearly became the nation’s first “Acting President” (as it was a leap year, he would have also been the only president sworn in on February 29). His contemporaries observed him to be among the most “astute political leader[s], effective debater[s], and [most] powerful campaigner[s] with personal charm and magnetism”239 and who rivaled the greatest politicians of his time. Handsome with long features and slight curls that ran along his ears, Mangum was one of the most capable legal and political minds of his era. But at fifty-two years old, with a failed presidential bid from almost a decade earlier, he knew the presidency was not in the cards. Little did he know how close he would come that winter afternoon.

John Tyler’s brush with death didn’t stop on board the Princeton. Just as Julia Gardiner reached the deck, a sailor scurried from the front of the ship saying, “Don’t let miss Gardiner forward, her father is dead.”240 Upon hearing this startling news, Julia Gardiner fainted in the president’s arms and fell unconscious. As recounted by his grandson, still alive 155 years later,IX “The president took her back downstairs, laid her on a bunk and commanded that the ship go to the shore at the nearest dock.”241 By then, additional medical aid was summoned, and the small steam vessel I. Johnson arrived to help the grief-stricken passengers.242 In today’s context, the president would have been the first person rushed out of the scene, but then he was just one of the helping hands. He took immediate responsibility for the grief-stricken Julia.

In what became the next chapter in a fascinating love story, Tyler lifted his young crush into his arms and proceeded to carry her down the gangplank from the ship’s deck to the I. Johnson. The president, thirty years her elder, had to take extra care to balance himself so that they did not fall over the gangplank and into the water, which given the ship’s height would have almost certainly killed them both. It was at this moment that Julia regained consciousness, flailing her arms and legs as she woke up confused and in shock. She was disoriented and unaware of who was carrying her, leading to a frantic panic that nearly knocked them both overboard. Such an outcome would have been a tragic irony: She would have been the woman who saved the life of the president by tempting him to stay and have a drink only to inadvertently kill him an hour later. In reflecting back on the event, she later recalled, “I fainted and did not revive until someone was carrying me off the board and I struggled so that I almost knocked us both off the gangplank. I did not know at the time, but I learned later that it was the President whose life I almost consigned to the water.”243

Despite the tragedy of the Princeton, the story has one happy ending. The trauma of the tragedy caused Julia Gardiner to have a change of heart. In reflecting back on the moment later in life, she recalled, “After I lost my father, I felt differently towards the President. He seemed to fill the place and to be more agreeable in every way than any younger man ever was or could be.”244 Whether it was true love or a manifestation of what Carl Jung called the “Electra Complex,” John Tyler was pleased with the outcome and cared little about the motivations. He seized the moment, and on April 20 sent a message to Julia’s mother, Juliana, to once again ask for her daughter’s hand in marriage. He had written her a condolence letter on March 1, expressing his sorrow and informing the widow that her husband’s remains had been moved from the ship to the executive mansion, where they lay protected alongside the secretary of state, secretary of the navy, minister to Belgium, and commodore of the Navy.245 Given the change in circumstances and the loss of the family patriarch, the once skeptical mother and now widow offered her blessing.

The wedding was without precedent, as John Tyler’s wife Letitia’s death in September 1842 made him the first widower president. Two years later, on June 26, 1844, the president married Julia Gardiner at the Church of the Ascension, on Fifth Avenue in New York City, keeping their nuptials a secret until the following day.246 The bride was stunning, described by the New York Times as “robed simply in white, with a gauze veil depending from a circlet of white flowers wreathed in her hair.”247 Her brother walked her down the aisle and gave her away to the president. The Right Reverend Bishop Benjamin Onderdonk—who would later be put on trial for serial groping (the 1840s version of sexual harassment)—married the couple in front of a crowd that was “not more than a dozen people,” including the “brother and sister of the bride, John Tyler, Jr., and lady, two Misses Wickliffe, daughters of the Postmaster General; Mr. Postmaster Graham, and one or two others.”248

    At twenty-four, Julia became the youngest first lady in American history; a title she retained until Grover Cleveland fell in love with Frances Folsom, who was a student at Aurora College in New York. At twenty-one years old, her marriage to President Cleveland gave her the title. They would go on to have seven children, on top of the seven that Tyler already had living (his third child Anne died at birth). This grand total of fifteen was more than any other president in history. He fathered the last of the batch at the ripe age of seventy, Pearl Tyler, whose death would have been on her father’s 157th birthday.

Forcing Texas

The Princeton explosion dealt a significant blow to Tyler’s Texas agenda249 because of the loss of Upshur and who replaced him. In a dispatch sent back to Texas on March 5, 1844, the Texas chargé revealed just how close they were to completing the treaty: “For some days previous to Mr. Upshur’s death we had been engaged in discussing the terms of a treaty of annexation and had agreed on all the main points. . . . I was awaiting a reply to my last communication. . . . Had instructions arrived to authorize me to consummate it, the treaty could have been concluded in half a day. Who may be called to the State Department is yet uncertain. I fear it will not again be so well filled.”250 He recalled that just days before the accident on board the Princeton, he “had given to [Usphur] for examination an outline of the points which would be required to be included [in the treaty]; and he had submitted to me a similar draft, in his own handwriting embracing his views, which corresponded fully with my own in every main particular.” The chargé was just awaiting a reply and what remained would take about half a day with likely Senate approval.251

The Texas chargé’s caution about who would fill Upshur’s seat proved to be prescient. While the loss of Upshur was a setback, it was the choice of his successor that nearly torpedoed the president’s annexation plans. The new secretary of state, John C. Calhoun, wanted to wrap a sectional bow around annexation, lest there be any ambiguity about whether the administration was driven by the southern cause. His goal was confrontation, to hijack annexation as a southern cause that would antagonize the North and forge the southern party of his dreams.252

By April 12, Calhoun had a signed treaty that was ready to go to Congress. All he had to do was deliver the treaty without doing anything to disrupt the current discourse. Everything changed following a communiqué from Richard Pakenham, the British minister to the U.S., who wanted to inform the administration that while England opposed slavery and would like to see it abolished, she had no plans to direct those sentiments at either Texas or Mexico. By all accounts the message was an amiable overture by the new minister and the president took it in good faith. Calhoun, who was looking for a fight, accused his British counterpart of fomenting insurrection and plotting nefarious activities. Tyler was unaware of the content of Calhoun’s letter to the minister and so he thought nothing of it when he secretly sent the treaty, along with this letter and other documents, to the Senate for consideration. Not surprisingly, Calhoun’s letter—which would become known as the “Pakenham Letter”—caused outrage among abolitionists, who made sure it was leaked to the press.253

The Pakenham Letter could not have come at a worse time, for everybody. The presidential campaign of 1844 was heating up. Former president Martin Van Buren was the clear front-runner for the Democrats, while Henry Clay seemed to have shored up the nomination for the Whigs. Both candidates wanted to avoid the slavery issue at all costs. The last thing either needed was to have Texas annexation introduced into the campaign under the pretext of expanding slavery. Both were quick to publish letters denouncing annexation, but their attempts to navigate an increasingly complex issue created a perfect storm that would rob them both of the presidency. Clay argued that “the United States, still unable to pay off its own debt, would have to assume a Texas debt of $13 million” and suggested that annexation of Texas would “menace the existence if not certainly sow the seeds of dissolution of the Union” by provoking an almost guaranteed war with Mexico.254 Van Buren shared this view that annexation would lead to an unwanted war with Mexico.255

Van Buren was the first to fall. He had enemies within the Democratic Party, who used his opposition to annexation as a way to thwart his election prospects. Instead, the Democratic Party hastily turned to James K. Polk, a relative unknown from Tennessee who had championed both the annexation of Texas and the reoccupation of Oregon.256 Henry Clay and the Whigs were initially ecstatic. They were confident about defeating Van Buren, but they were certain about defeating Polk. This was not an unreasonable assumption to make, given that Polk was the nation’s first dark horse candidate and was not of the same political stature as Clay.

As Clay and Polk went head-to-head, President Tyler still lingered in the campaign and while he had no chance of winning on a third-party ticket, his presence took votes from the Democrats. Recognizing this, the Democrats made a move to cut a deal with Tyler. In exchange for Tyler dropping out of the race, the Democrats met each of his three demands: Immediately halt the public thrashings in the Democratic Washington Globe, guarantee that Democrats holding office would be retained in the Polk administration, and the immediate annexation of Texas.257 With his demands met, the president withdrew from the race on August 20 and called on all annexation enthusiasts to throw their support behind Polk.

With the Democrats now positioning themselves as the party for annexation, Clay found himself in the difficult political position of speaking out against a policy that benefited his southern base. When this led to charges that he was pandering to northern abolitionists—the kiss of death in the South—he published a letter in Alabama’s Independent Monitor, in which he insisted his pro-annexation stance was motivated entirely by a desire to preserve the Union. His defensive posture weakened his political position and opened him to criticism from the Democrats. This was nothing compared to what followed in a second letter. On July 27, Clay published a reversal of his position on annexation in yet another Alabama paper, in which he explained that he had “no personal objection to annexation and that the existence of slavery in Texas had nothing to do with its propriety.”258

Clay’s second letter proved fatal. The Whig Party had been working to rally the opposition to Texas annexation and get them behind Clay as the Democrats had done with the pro-annexation camp. Instead, Clay played into Democratic hands, by helping them divide the anti-annexationist camps, leaving the Whig Party without the harmony that it would need going into the election. And when the election finally came, the Democrats won a decisive victory, claiming 170 electoral votes to the Whigs’ 105 and carrying eight states that had gone to the Whigs in 1840.

Following the loss in 1844, the Whigs thought long and hard about the party’s future. Southern Whigs, in particular, pushed the party to move past the tariff and Texas annexation, two issues they blamed for their poor showing in 1844. With the 28th Congress set to convene from December 3, 1844, to March 3, 1845, before Polk was inaugurated, they were eager to extricate themselves of the toxic Texas issue so that it did not resurface during the next election. The lame-duck president, having failed to achieve ratification of the Texas treaty in the Senate, made no secret of his intention to annex Texas through a joint resolution of Congress, which could be achieved by a simple majority.

With a Democratic-stacked Congress, it was clear that the joint resolution would pass. However, there were still open questions about the substance of the joint resolution. Seizing the opportunity to tip annexation further in favor of the South, Milton Brown, a southern Whig congressman from Tennessee, rallied the southern Whigs to present an alternate plan. Under the terms of Brown’s plan, the whole Republic of Texas would be admitted to the Union as one slave state rather than as a territory. The issue of the Mexican boundary would be handled by the United States, while Texas would keep its public lands so long as it paid off its debt. Brown also added a future clause that allowed Texas to be divided into as many as four additional states that could choose to be free or slave.

Northern Whigs and Van Buren Democrats opposed the Brown plan, insisting on a revised treaty with Texas that would admit only the settled area of the republic as a slave state and leave the status of the rest for future determination. But a bloc of southern Whig supporters for the Brown plan helped tip the balance259 and on January 27, 1845, the House of Representatives passed a joint resolution on annexation 120 to 98. On March 1, just three days before leaving office, Tyler signed the joint resolution and after conferring with President-elect Polk, he formally invited Texas to join the Union.260



William Henry Harrison’s death marked the first time in American history that presidential power abruptly transferred from one man to another. It is a testament to the American system that without precedent or clarity in the Constitution, power transferred so seamlessly and swiftly through a seminal historic moment of ambiguity. This particular transfer of power was made all the more remarkable by the extraordinary set of events that followed, including political circumstances that led to the annexation of Texas in 1844 and precipitated war with Mexico. The war, which was fought by Tyler’s successor, James K. Polk, failed to win popular support from a population that supported admission of Texas, but preferred not to fight.

Once war with Mexico commenced, the question was not whether the U.S. would win, but how it would handle the spoils of victory. At the war’s onset, Ralph Waldo Emerson, the philosopher and father of transcendentalism, warned somewhat prophetically, “The United States will conquer Mexico, but it will be as the man swallows the arsenic, which brings him down in turn. Mexico will poison us.”261



I. The curse would make for a powerful historical anecdote, except for the fact that it was a pop fabrication printed in a 1931 edition of Ripley’s Believe It or Not, which published the absurd story over a century after the alleged curse was issued.

II. Scientists have argued that the buildup of human waste was also responsible for James Polk’s death just three months after leaving office in 1849.

III. During the nineteenth century, the Senate leader was an unofficial position typically occupied by the chairman of a powerful committee or the party conference. (See U.S. Senate Historical Office.)

IV. Refers to the Bankruptcy Act of 1841, which updated the previous legislation from 1800 and would establish a uniform system of bankruptcy throughout the United States. Statute I, Chap. IX, 27th Congress, session I (1841).

V. In the twenty-seventh Congress, Alabama—which didn’t achieve statehood until 1819—had five members elected to Congress, who each represented the state “at large.” This was partially resolved by the 1840 census, but the five members had already been elected before this could be accounted for.

VI. “Hubbard’s” refers to Brooke & Hubbard, which was a well-known slave auctioneer.

VII. The Secret Service was under the purview of the Department of the Treasury and was primarily responsible for combating counterfeiting. The contingency fund was part of a discretionary budget that the Secretary of the Treasury could draw on.

VIII. Letitia Tyler died on September 10, 1842, after suffering a stroke. She was the first first lady to die while her husband was in office.

IX. John Tyler was born in 1790 and fathered his last child, Lyon Gardiner Tyler, Sr., at the age of sixty-three. That son fathered two children, Lyon Gardiner Tyler, Jr., at the age of seventy-one and Harrison Ruffin Tyler at the age of seventy-five.
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Zachary Taylor was the hero of the Mexican War, elected as the second Whig president. He opposed the Compromise of 1850, but died just over a year into office.
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Millard Fillmore fired the entire Taylor cabinet and worked with Congress to break the deadlock over slavery in the new territories and temporarily avert civil war.





CHAPTER TWO



Over My Dead Body

The Battle of Monterrey was among the bloodiest of the Mexican-American War. The belligerents fought to the point of hand-to-hand combat through the streets.1 Led by General Zachary Taylor, the Americans squeezed out a narrow victory, but gained little ground. Taylor, who was more concerned with the well-being of his troops than the larger war, recognized the exhaustion on both sides and negotiated an eight-week cease-fire with his defeated enemy. President James K. Polk was apoplectic and vowed to undo Taylor’s unilateral accommodation of Mexico.

The victory at Monterrey was meant to be the precursor to a war-ending assault on Mexico City,2 for which the president and the Democratic Party would enjoy the political benefits of victory. After conferring with his advisors, Polk reversed Taylor’s cease-fire and found a way to mastermind his great victory with bells and whistles and punish his rogue general at the same time. Believing that this would be the final battle of the war, Polk, who had pledged a single term in office, 3 wanted a loyal Democrat to reap the benefits of military victory and triumph in the presidential election of 1848 as his anointed successor. He chose Winfield Scott, a decorated general with a hunger and savvy for politics, to lead the invasion and equipped him with an additional ten thousand veterans and regulars whom he commandeered from Taylor. Reduced to five thousand volunteers who lacked the experience and discipline that he expected from his troops as a professional soldier,4 Taylor was stripped further of his dignity and relegated to defend the small town of Buena Vista.

While Polk played musical chairs with American troops and politics with his generals, the Mexicans saw an opportunity in Taylor’s weak position and planned a secret attack on Buena Vista. Despite its marginal geographic significance, the Mexicans needed a victory to boost morale for the bigger fight to defend Mexico City. Leading the charge was General Antonio López de Santa Anna, who on February 23, 1847, stormed Taylor’s position with twenty thousand well-equipped troops. It should have been a decisive victory for Mexico. Instead, the outnumbered Taylor achieved a miracle that day—although a number of soldiers died, including Henry Clay’s son James—and led his five thousand volunteers to turn back the experienced Mexican fighters.5

Taylor’s victory at Buena Vista may not have ended the Mexican-American War, but tales of the sixty-two-year-old general defying unthinkable odds transformed him into a nationwide celebrity. Polk’s plan failed. Instead of punishing Taylor and elevating Scott, his political interference fostered a public perception that one biographer described as “Taylor as David being sent unnecessarily to face the Goliath Santa Anna.” This story of valor and beating the odds only made the stories of heroism that much greater.6

As Taylor was transformed, soldiers and colleagues came out of the woodwork to share extraordinary—and often hyperbolized—stories of his bravery and humility. In one widely circulated anecdote from a steamboat in Port Isabel, Texas, Taylor is said to have offered his stateroom to sick and wounded soldiers while he slept on a mattress in the hallway. When the ship’s servants attempted to locate the general for dinner, a fireman on board the ship insisted that he had seen “a clever old fellow asleep there under the sail in front of the fire!”7 Americans fell in love with the general and his appeal grew into a sort of “Taylormania,” with one New Yorker reporting how pictures of him were on every ice cart, butcher’s stall, fish stand, cigar box, and carriage throughout the city, along with his nickname “Rough and Ready.”8 Taylormania catapulted him into a supra-partisan symbol, making him ripe for political exploitation.

Meanwhile, the Democrats and Whigs muddled through their respective identity crises. Each struggled to develop a narrative around the war with Mexico that could unite their sectional factions. The Whigs opposed the war with Mexico as a folly caused by the ex-Whig Tyler’s annexation of Texas, but this strong position against the war alienated its southern faction. The Democrats sought to unify under the aspiration of “manifest destiny”—that America should stretch from coast to coast. But this strategy, too, got caught in a cobweb of sectional politics with many northerners resenting the slaveholding president’s attempt to expand the peculiar institution, as slavery was known, under the auspices of patriotism. But as difficult as it was to navigate the politics of the war, managing victory proved to be a far greater challenge as the country entered a presidential election year.9

The Spoils of Victory

Eighteen forty-eight began with spectacular promise. The discovery of gold in January led droves of Americans to head out west in search of instant wealth.10 On February 2, the war with Mexico officially ended,11 which unloaded a massive financial burden stifling the economy. Waves of European revolutions caused significant capital flight to the U.S., which helped further stimulate the economic recovery.

While the economy boomed, the country readied itself for a political changing of the guard. The great titans of the political system—Henry Clay, John Calhoun, and Daniel Webster—still maintained enormous political influence, but their old age meant the curtain was closing on their final act. Within four years they would all be dead. A new crop of young and dynamic politicians like Abraham Lincoln, Jefferson Davis, and Stephen Douglas emerged to share the stage and prepare to take the baton. They brought energy, charisma, and for better or worse a new style of leadership to a changing political context and a lot of new territory.

The Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo—ratified in March by the United States and in May by Spain—set the terms for peace with Mexico. For the United States, the spoils of victory were prodigious, including the acquisition of present-day California; most of present-day New Mexico, Arizona, Nevada, Utah; and parts of present-day Colorado, Wyoming, and Texas. This massive landmass—known as the Mexican Cession—marked the largest single annexation since the Louisiana Purchase12 and grew the United States from 1,753,588 square miles to 2,944,337 square miles13—almost a 68 percent territorial growth that extended America from coast to coast.14

Despite the territorial gains, these spoils of victory carried the seeds for disunion.15 Without the slavery issue, Americans probably would have celebrated this expansion. Instead, the question of how to deal with slavery in the new territories meant that old wounds—patched up by temporary fixes like the Missouri Compromise—were reopened. The thesis of previous compromises stipulated that America would have to maintain a balance of free and slave states in order to ensure against disunion. Now with the addition of such vast territory the country found itself overstretched and beginning to tear at the seams.

There was no easy fix. Mexico abolished slavery in 1829 through the Guerrero Decree, which meant slavery had been banned under Mexican law in each of the acquired territories for nearly two decades. Even so, none of the new territories were conducive to slavery—New Mexico and Utah had very few people and California was already a free territory—so the balance would inevitably flip. For many in the South, these prospects spelled not just the end of slavery as an institution, but the entire region’s marginalization. For northerners, the opportunity to achieve greater political influence was all too appealing. As sectional tensions grew, statesmen from all factions were reminded of Thomas Jefferson’s ominous warning from twenty-eight years earlier. In reacting to the Missouri Compromise, he wrote, “We have the wolf by the ear, and we can neither hold him, nor safely let him go.”16 Now, faced with the same wolf, but bigger and feistier, the country would have to elect a leader to guide and navigate through perhaps the greatest inflection point in American history. The two major political parties, Democrats and Whigs, were split across sectional lines, and without a path to balancing free and slave states something would have to give.

President Polk, nearing the end of his administration, was in no position to play this role. As a staunch supporter of slavery, it’s possible he would have made a last-ditch effort to push slavery into the new territories, but illness caused by toxins in the White House prevented him from seeking a second term (he would die three months after leaving office). With no incumbent in the 1848 presidential election, an open field of Whig and Democratic candidates battled it out over the single issue of slavery in the new territories. The Whigs believed the election was theirs for the taking, but only if they pivoted away from establishment figures like Henry Clay—who in April declared his candidacy for the fourth time in his career—and found a way to avoid agitating either sectional faction of the party.17 This meant they needed a candidate who had name recognition, but whose politics were too unknown to be divisive. Recalling their success eight years earlier in electing William Henry Harrison, the party revisited its strategy of turning to a military hero18 who could be easily elected and molded later. But even on the heels of war with Mexico, there were slim pickings. Whether they could convince the right military hero to pursue the presidency, let alone as a Whig, remained an open question.

Wooing a General

All eyes were on Zachary Taylor, who fit the bill. As a military leader, he was a giant and as he had not yet become a political figure, his views were unknown. Taylor was a child of the frontier without a political bone in his body. Despite being the son of an old aristocratic family,19 he didn’t enjoy the pleasantries of the aristocratic lifestyle. His parents preferred exploration to ostentation, and as a result he spent his youth on the frontier, where the threat of Indian warfare was constant.20 As a boy, his house was often barricaded and the guns readied in case of an attack in the middle of the night.21 He would later recall an incident where a group of Indians murdered and scalped his classmates moments after he and his brothers separated from them just a hundred yards away.22 The rough frontier life nurtured young Taylor’s lust for adventure and at times he deliberately sought reckless valor. At the age of seventeen, he swam across the Ohio River, from the Kentucky to the Indiana shore, ignoring the freezing temperature and floating ice.23 Why? “Just to prove that he could do it.”24 His formal education was limited and most accounts of his early writing skills describe him as semiliterate.25 Inspired by his older brother, he joined the Army, where he was first commissioned by Thomas Jefferson on May 3, 1808.

Taylor had an odd physical presence, at least relative to many of his contemporaries. He was short and stocky, five feet eight inches with an oversized head, slightly stooped shoulders, and legs that were too short for his body.26 He hesitated when speaking, which sounded like a slight stutter.27 His social anxiety and discomfort led to several physical quirks, such as closing one eye when speaking.28 He was rough around the edges, described by Daniel Webster as “a swearing, whiskey-drinking, fighting frontier colonel.”29

These attributes, flattering and unflattering, are part of what made him so loved. He was admiringly called “Old Rough and Ready,” while his fancier rival Winfield Scott was disparagingly referred to as “Old Fuss and Feathers.” Taylor’s modesty was legendary. A Virginia officer observed that “he was perfectly unaffected by his brilliant successes” and described him as “plain and unassuming in his kind manners mild and affable in his disposition and kind and courteous in his demeanour.”30
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